#### **Base Shelf Prospectus**

This short form base shelf prospectus has been filed under legislation in all provinces of Canada that permits certain information about these securities to be determined after this prospectus has become final and that permits the omission from this prospectus of that information. The legislation requires the delivery to purchasers of a prospectus supplement containing the omitted information within a specified period of time after agreeing to purchase any of these securities.

This short form base shelf prospectus constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and therein only by persons permitted to sell such securities. No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise.

The securities to be issued hereunder have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States of America and its territories and possessions or to, or for the account or benefit of, United States persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of such Act. See "Plan of Distribution".

New issue

#### SHORT FORM BASE SHELF PROSPECTUS



February 19, 2004

**INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE** INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

# \$1,000,000,000

# Debt Securities Class A Preferred Shares Common Shares

Industrial Alliance Insurance and Financial Services Inc. ("Industrial Alliance") may from time to time offer and issue the following securities: (i) senior or subordinated unsecured debt securities (collectively, the "Debt Securities"); (ii) class A preferred shares ("Class A Preferred Shares"); and (iii) common shares ("Common Shares"). The Debt Securities, the Class A Preferred Shares and the Common Shares (collectively, the "Securities") offered hereby may be offered separately or together, in separate series, in amounts, at prices and on terms to be set forth in an accompanying shelf prospectus supplement (a "Prospectus Supplement").

All requisite information omitted from this prospectus (the "Prospectus") will be contained in one or more Prospectus Supplements that will be delivered to purchasers together with this Prospectus. Industrial Alliance may sell up to \$1,000,000,000 in aggregate initial offering price of Securities (or the Canadian dollar equivalent thereof if any of the Securities are denominated in a foreign currency or currency unit) at any time and from time to time during the 25 month period that this Prospectus including any amendments thereto, remains valid.

The specific terms of the Securities in respect of which this Prospectus is being delivered will be set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement and may include, where applicable: (i) in the case of the Debt Securities, the specific designation, aggregate principal amount, the currency or the currency unit for which such securities may be purchased, maturity, interest provisions, authorized denominations, offering price, any terms for redemption at the option of Industrial Alliance or the holder, any exchange or conversion terms and any other specific terms; (ii) in the case of the Class A Preferred Shares, the designation of the particular series, aggregate principal amount, the number of shares offered, the issue price, the dividend rate, the dividend payment dates, any terms for redemption at the option of Industrial Alliance or the holder, any exchange or conversion terms and any other specific terms; and (iii) in the case of the Class A preferred Shares, the dividend payment dates, any terms for redemption at the option of Industrial Alliance or the holder, any exchange or conversion terms and any other specific terms; and (iii) in the case of the Common Shares, the number of shares and the offering price.

All shelf information permitted under applicable securities laws to be omitted from this Prospectus will be contained in one or more Prospectus Supplements that will be delivered to purchasers together with this Prospectus. Each Prospectus Supplement will be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus as of the date of such Prospectus Supplement but only for the purposes of the distribution of the Securities to which the Prospectus Supplement pertains.

The outstanding Common Shares are currently listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, the Debt Securities will not be listed on any stock exchange.

The Securities may be sold through underwriters or dealers, by Industrial Alliance directly pursuant to applicable statutory exemptions, or through agents designated by Industrial Alliance from time to time. The Prospectus Supplement will identify Industrial Alliance, each underwriter, dealer or agent engaged in connection with the offering and sale of those Securities, and will also set forth the terms of the offering of such Securities including the net proceeds to Industrial Alliance and, to the extent applicable, any fees payable to the underwriters, dealers or agents.

The Debt Securities will be direct unsecured obligations of Industrial Alliance constituting senior or subordinated indebtedness, as identified in the relevant Prospectus Supplement, for the purposes of *An Act respecting Insurance* (Québec) (the "Insurance Act") and will not constitute deposits that are insured under the *Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act* (the "Canada Deposit Act") or the *Deposit Insurance Act* (the "Québec Deposit Act").

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	2
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	2
INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE GROUP	3
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS	4
SHARE STRUCTURE	4
DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES	6
BOOK-ENTRY ONLY DEBT SECURITIES	7
CONSTRAINTS ON VOTING SHARES UNDER QUÉBEC INSURANCE LEGISLATION	8
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	8
RISK FACTORS	9
USE OF PROCEEDS	9
LEGAL MATTERS	9
STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION	9
CERTIFICATE OF INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES INC	10
AUDITORS' CONSENT.	11

# FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus, including those documents incorporated by reference, may contain forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the operations, objectives, strategies, financial situation and performance of Industrial Alliance. These statements, which appear in this Prospectus (including the documents incorporated by reference herein), generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking words such as "may", "will", "expect", "intend", "estimate", "anticipate", "believe" or "continue" or the negative thereof and similar variations. These statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Some of the factors that could cause such differences include legislative or regulatory developments, competition, technological changes, global capital market activity, interest rates, changes in demographic data and general economic conditions in Canada or elsewhere in the world. These and other factors should be considered carefully and undue reliance should not be placed on Industrial Alliance's forward-looking statements. Industrial Alliance does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements.

# DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents, which have been filed by Industrial Alliance with the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada, are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus:

- Industrial Alliance's Annual Information Form dated May 7, 2003 for the year ended December 31, 2002, excluding Section 4 Financial Information and Section 5 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position;
- (b) Industrial Alliance's Annual Report to Shareholders (the "Annual Report") for the years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002, which includes comparative consolidated audited financial statements and the auditors' report thereon, the report of the appointed actuary and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position;
- (c) Industrial Alliance's Management Proxy Circular dated as of March 3, 2003 (excluding those portions which, pursuant to National Instrument 44-101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators, are not required to be incorporated by reference herein); and
- (d) Industrial Alliance's press release dated February 10, 2004 respecting Industrial Alliance's financial results for the quarter ended December 31, 2003 and including the comparative consolidated audited financial statements and the auditors' report thereon for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the report of the appointed actuary.

Any documents of the types referred to above, comparative interim financial statements and any material change reports (excluding confidential material change reports) filed by Industrial Alliance with the securities regulatory

authorities in Canada after the date of this Prospectus and prior to the termination of the distribution, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. Updated earnings coverage ratios, if required, will be filed quarterly with the applicable securities regulatory authorities in Canada either as Prospectus Supplements or as exhibits to Industrial Alliance's unaudited interim and audited annual consolidated financial statements and will be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus for the purposes of the offering of Securities hereunder.

Any statement contained in this Prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded, for purposes of this Prospectus, to the extent that a statement contained herein, or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes such prior statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Prospectus. The making of a modifying or superseding statement shall not be deemed and admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.

Information has been incorporated by reference in this Prospectus from documents filed with securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Vice-President and General Manager, Corporate Affairs and Secretary, Industrial Alliance Insurance and Financial Services Inc., 1080 Chemin Saint-Louis, Sillery, Québec, G1K 7M3 (telephone: (418) 684-5000). For the purposes of the Province of Québec, this simplified prospectus contains information to be completed by consulting the permanent information record. A copy of the permanent information record may also be obtained from the Vice-President and General Manager, Corporate Affairs and Secretary of Industrial Alliance at the above-mentioned address and telephone number.

Upon a new Annual Information Form and the related annual audited consolidated financial statements being filed by Industrial Alliance with, and where required, accepted by, the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the currency of this Prospectus, the previous Annual Information Form, the previous annual audited consolidated financial statements and all interim financial statements, material change reports and information circulars filed prior to the commencement of Industrial Alliance's financial year in which the new Annual Information Form is filed shall be deemed no longer to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of Securities hereunder.

All currency amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

#### INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE GROUP

Industrial Alliance (formerly, "Industrial-Alliance Life Insurance Company", or its French version, "L'Industrielle-Alliance Compagnie d'Assurance sur la Vie") is a capital stock life insurance company resulting from its conversion from a mutual life insurance company into a capital stock life insurance company on February 10, 2000. The mutual life insurance company itself resulted from the amalgamation, in 1987, of Industrial Life Insurance Company, founded in 1905, and Alliance Mutual Life Insurance Company, founded in 1892. In 1996, the mutual life insurance company amalgamated with The Solidarity Life Insurance Company.

On June 11, 2003, Industrial Alliance was continued under Part 1A of the *Companies Act* (Québec) (the "Companies Act") pursuant to Articles of Continuance. As part of its continuance, Industrial Alliance changed its name to "Industrial Alliance Insurance and Financial Services Inc.", and its French version "Industrielle Alliance, Assurance et services financiers inc.", and reorganized its share capital. Industrial Alliance is governed by the Insurance Act, Part 1A of the Companies Act and *An Act respecting Industrial-Alliance, Life Insurance Company* (Québec).

Industrial Alliance's head office is located at 1080 Chemin Saint-Louis in Sillery, Québec G1K 7M3. Industrial Alliance also has offices located at 680 Sherbrooke Street West in Montréal, Québec H3A 2S6.

Industrial Alliance and its principal subsidiaries (collectively the "Industrial Alliance Group") are active in the protection and wealth management market and offer a wide range of life and health insurance products, savings and investment products, such as segregated funds and mutual funds from other companies, general insurance, and other financial products. The Industrial Alliance Group operates throughout Canada and in certain regions in the United States.

# **RECENT DEVELOPMENTS**

On December 19, 2003, Industrial Alliance announced that the Toronto Stock Exchange accepted its notice of intention to purchase, from time to time over the ensuing 12 months (from December 24, 2003), up to an aggregate of 1,900,000 of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, being less than 5% of issued and outstanding Common Shares at December 18, 2003. Any purchases under the program will be made using the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange. The program will conclude on the earlier of Industrial Alliance purchasing a total of 1,900,000 Common Shares, providing notice of termination, or 12 months following the commencement date.

### SHARE STRUCTURE

The share capital of Industrial Alliance consists of (a) an unlimited number of Class A Preferred Shares without nominal or par value, issuable in series, (b) 10,000,000 preferred shares with a nominal or par value of \$25 per share, issuable in series (the "Preferred Shares"), and (c) an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par value. As of February 10, 2004, 39,237,202 Common Shares, 4,000 Class A Preferred Shares, Series A and 750,000 Preferred Shares, Series 1 are issued and outstanding. In addition, as of February 10, 2004, (a) 3,000,000 Preferred Shares, Series 2 and 3,000,000 Preferred Shares, Series 3 were created and reserved for issuance upon the respective conversion of the Preferred Shares, Series 1 and the Preferred Shares, Series 2, and (b) an unlimited number of non-cumulative Class A Preferred Shares, Series YY and an unlimited number of non-cumulative Class A Preferred Shares, Series ZZ were created and reserved for issuance upon the exchange of Industrial Alliance Trust Securities — Series A.

The following is a summary of certain rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Class A Preferred Shares and the Common Shares. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the articles of Industrial Alliance. The particular terms and provisions of a series of the Class A Preferred Shares offered pursuant to an accompanying Prospectus Supplement, and the extent to which the general terms and provisions described below may apply thereto, will be described in such Prospectus Supplement.

#### **Class A Preferred Shares**

#### Board of Directors' Authority to Issue in One or More Series

The Board of Directors may issue the Class A Preferred Shares in one or more series. Before any shares of a series are issued, the Board of Directors will fix the number of shares that will form the series and, subject to any limitations set out in the articles of Industrial Alliance, the designation of Class A Preferred Shares Series, as well as the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching thereto. Before the issue of any shares of a series, the Board of Directors will amend the articles so as to include therein the number and designation as well as the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions of the series created by the Board of Directors.

#### Ranking of the Class A Preferred Shares

No rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to a series of Class A Preferred Shares confer on the series a priority in respect of dividends or return of capital over any other series of Class A Preferred Shares.

With respect to priority in the payment of dividends and in the distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation or dissolution of Industrial Alliance, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets of Industrial Alliance among its participating policyholders and shareholders for the specific purpose of winding up its affairs, the Class A Preferred Shares: (a) rank equally with the Preferred Shares; and (b) are entitled to a preference over the Common Shares and any other shares ranking junior to the Class A Preferred Shares.

If any cumulative dividends, whether or not declared, or declared non-cumulative dividends or amounts payable on return of capital are not paid in full in respect of any series of Class A Preferred Shares, then the Class A Preferred Shares of all series participate rateably in respect of such dividends in accordance with the sums that would be payable on such shares if all such dividends were declared and paid in full, and in respect of such return of capital in accordance with the sums that would be payable on such return of capital if all sums so payable were paid in full; provided, however, that if there are insufficient assets to satisfy in full all such claims as aforesaid, then the claims of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares with respect to return of capital will be paid and satisfied first and any assets remaining thereafter will be applied towards the payment and satisfaction of claims in respect of dividends. The Class A Preferred Shares of any series may also be given such other preferences not inconsistent with the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Class A Preferred Shares as a class over the Common Shares and any other shares ranking junior to the Class A Preferred Shares as may be determined in the case of such series of Class A Preferred Shares.

### Voting Rights

Except as referred to below or as required by law or as specified in the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached from time to time to any series of Class A Preferred Shares, the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares as a class are not entitled as such to receive notice of, to attend or to vote at any meeting of the shareholders or participating policyholders of Industrial Alliance.

# Amendment with Approval of the Holders of Class A Preferred Shares

The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Class A Preferred Shares as a class may be changed or removed but only with the approval of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares given as specified below.

#### Approval of the Holders of the Class A Preferred Shares

The approval of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares to change or remove any right, privilege, restriction or condition attaching to the Class A Preferred Shares as a class or in respect of any other matter requiring the consent of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares may be given in such manner as may then be required by law, subject to the requirement that such approval be given by resolution passed by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast at a meeting of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares are present in person or represented by proxy. If at any such meeting, the holders of at least one-fourth (1/4) of the outstanding Class A Preferred Shares are present in person or represented by proxy within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, then the meeting will be adjourned to such date not less than 15 days thereafter and to such time and place as may be appointed by the chairman of the meeting. A notice of not less than seven days will be given of the adjourned meeting. At such adjourned meeting the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares present or represented by proxy may transact the business for which the meeting was originally called and a resolution passed thereat by not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast constitutes the approval of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares referred by proxy may transact the business for which the meeting was originally called and a resolution passed thereat by not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast

The formalities to be observed with respect to the giving of notice of any such meeting or any adjourned meeting and the conduct thereof are those from time to time prescribed by the by-laws of Industrial Alliance or the resolutions passed by the Board of Directors with respect to meetings of shareholders or as required by law. On every poll taken at every meeting of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares as a class, or at any joint meeting of the holders of two or more series of Class A Preferred Shares, each holder of Class A Preferred Shares entitled to vote thereat has one vote in respect of each Class A Preferred Share held.

# **Common Shares**

#### Dividends

Subject to the prior rights of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares, the Preferred Shares and any other shares ranking senior to the Common Shares with respect to payment of dividends, the holders of Common Shares will be entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Board of Directors out of moneys properly applicable to the payment of dividends, in such amount and in such forms as the Board of Directors may determine and all dividends which the Board of Directors may declare on the Common Shares will be declared and paid in equal amounts per share on all Common Shares outstanding at the time.

# Dissolution

In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of Industrial Alliance, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets of Industrial Alliance among its participating policyholders and shareholders for the specific purpose of winding up its affairs, subject to the prior rights of the holders of the Class A Preferred Shares, the Preferred Shares and any other shares ranking senior to the Common Shares with respect to the distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation or dissolution of Industrial Alliance, the holders of the Common Shares will be entitled to receive the remaining property of Industrial Alliance that pertains to shareholders in equal amounts per share, without preference or priority of one share over another.

#### Voting rights

The holders of Common Shares will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of the shareholders of Industrial Alliance and will have one vote for each Common Share held at all meetings of the shareholders of Industrial Alliance, except for meetings at which only holders of another specified class or series of shares of Industrial Alliance are entitled to vote separately as a class or series.

#### Notice of meeting

The formalities to be observed with respect to the giving of notice of any such meeting or any adjourned meeting, the quorum required therefore and the conduct thereof will be those required by law and those, if any, prescribed by the by-laws or the administrative resolutions of Industrial Alliance with respect to meetings of shareholders.

# **DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES**

The following sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the Debt Securities. The particular terms and provisions of Debt Securities offered pursuant to an accompanying Prospectus Supplement, and the extent to which the general terms and provisions described below may apply to such Debt Securities, will be described in such Prospectus Supplement.

The Debt Securities will be direct unsecured obligations of Industrial Alliance. The Debt Securities will be senior or subordinated indebtedness of Industrial Alliance as described in the relevant Prospectus Supplement. If the Debt Securities are senior indebtedness for the purposes of the Insurance Act, they will rank equally and rateably with all other unsecured indebtedness of Industrial Alliance, from time to time issued and outstanding, which is not subordinated. If the Debt Securities are subordinated indebtedness of Industrial Alliance, from time to time issued and outstanding, which is not subordinated. If the Debt Securities are subordinated indebtedness of Industrial Alliance, from time to time issued and outstanding. In the event of the insolvency or winding-up of Industrial Alliance, the subordinated indebtedness of Industrial Alliance, including the subordinated Debt Securities, will be subordinated in right of payment to all policy liabilities of Industrial Alliance and all other liabilities of Industrial Alliance (including senior indebtedness), except those which by their terms rank equally in right of payment with or are subordinated to such subordinated indebtedness.

# The Debt Securities will not constitute deposits that are insured under the Canada Deposit Act or the Québec Deposit Act.

The Debt Securities will be issued under one or more indentures (each, a "Trust Indenture"), in each case between Industrial Alliance and a financial institution to which the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) applies or a financial institution organized under the laws of any province of Canada and authorized to carry on business as a trustee (each, a "Trustee"). The statements made hereunder relating to any Trust Indenture and the Debt Securities to be issued thereunder are summaries of certain anticipated provisions thereof and do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all provisions of the applicable Trust Indenture.

Each Trust Indenture may provide that Debt Securities may be issued thereunder up to the aggregate principal amount which may be authorized from time to time by Industrial Alliance. Reference is made to the Prospectus Supplement which accompanies this Prospectus for the terms and other information with respect to the Debt Securities being offered thereby, including: (i) the designation, aggregate principal amount and authorized denominations of such Debt Securities; (ii) the currency or currency units for which the Debt Securities may be purchased and the currency or currency unit in which the principal and any interest is payable (in either case, if other than Canadian dollars); (iii) the percentage of the principal amount at which such Debt Securities will be issued; (iv) the date or dates on which such Debt Securities will be mature; (v) the rate or rates per annum at which such Debt Securities will be payable and the record dates for such payments; (vii) the Trustee under the Trust Indenture pursuant to which the Debt Securities are to be issued; (viii) any redemption term or terms under which such Debt Securities may be defeased; (ix) whether such Debt Securities are to be issued in registered form, bearer form or in the form of temporary or permanent global securities and the basis of exchange, transfer and ownership thereof; (x) any exchange or conversion terms; and (xi) any other specific terms.

Debt Securities may, at the option of Industrial Alliance, be issued in fully registered form, in "book-entry only" form (the implications of which are discussed below) or may be uncertificated. Debt Securities in registered form will be exchangeable for other Debt Securities of the same series and tenor, registered in the same name, for a like

aggregate principal amount in authorized denominations and will be transferable at any time or from time to time at the corporate trust office of the Trustee for such Debt Securities. No charge will be made to the holder for any such exchange or transfer except for any tax or government charge incidental thereto.

Debt Securities of a single series may be issued at various times with different maturity dates, may bear interest at different rates and may otherwise vary.

# **BOOK-ENTRY ONLY DEBT SECURITIES**

Debt Securities issued in "book-entry only" form must be purchased, transferred or redeemed through participants ("Participants") in the depository service of The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited or a successor (collectively "CDS") or its nominee. Each of the underwriters named in an accompanying Prospectus Supplement will be a Participant. On the closing of a book-entry only offering, Industrial Alliance will cause a global certificate or certificates representing the Debt Securities to be delivered to, and registered in the name of, CDS or its nominee. Except as described below, no purchaser of Debt Securities will be entitled to a certificate or other instrument from Industrial Alliance or CDS evidencing that purchaser's ownership thereof, and no purchaser will be shown on the records maintained by CDS except through a book-entry account of a Participant acting on behalf of such purchaser. Each purchaser of Debt Securities will receive a customer confirmation of purchase from the registered dealer from which the Debt Securities are purchased in accordance with the practices and procedures of that registered dealer. The practices of registered dealers may vary, but generally customer confirmations are issued promptly after execution of a customer order. CDS will be responsible for establishing and maintaining book-entry accounts for its Participants having interests in the Debt Securities. Reference in this Prospectus to a holder of Debt Securities means, unless the context otherwise requires, the owner of the beneficial interest in the Debt Securities.

If Industrial Alliance determines, or CDS notifies Industrial Alliance in writing, that CDS is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depository with respect to the Debt Securities and Industrial Alliance is unable to locate a qualified successor, or if Industrial Alliance at its option elects, or is required by law, to terminate the book-entry system, then Debt Securities will be issued in fully registered form to holders or their nominees.

#### Transfer or Redemption of Debt Securities

Transfer of ownership or redemptions of Debt Securities will be effected through records maintained by CDS or its nominee for such Debt Securities with respect to interests of Participants, and on the records of Participants with respect to interests of persons other than Participants. Holders who desire to purchase, sell or otherwise transfer ownership of or other interests in the Debt Securities may do so only through Participants.

The ability of a holder to pledge a Debt Security or otherwise take action with respect to such holder's interest in a Debt Security (other than through a Participant) may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate.

#### **Payments and Notices**

Payments of principal, redemption price, if any, and interest on each Debt Security will be made by Industrial Alliance to CDS or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered holder of the Debt Security and Industrial Alliance understands that such payments will be credited by CDS or its nominee in the appropriate amounts to the relevant Participants. Payments to holders of Debt Securities of amounts so credited will be the responsibility of the Participants.

As long as CDS or its nominee is the registered holder of the Debt Security, CDS or its nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner of the Debt Security for the purposes of receiving notices or payments on the Debt Securities. In such circumstances, the responsibility and liability of Industrial Alliance in respect of notices or payments on the Debt Securities is limited to giving notice or making payment of any principal, redemption price, if any, and interest due on the Debt Securities to CDS or its nominee.

Each holder must rely on the procedures of CDS and, if such holder is not a Participant, on the procedures of the Participant through which such holder owns its interest, to exercise any rights with respect to Debt Securities. Industrial Alliance understands that under existing policies of CDS and industry practices, if Industrial Alliance requests any action of holders or if a holder desires to give any notice or take any action which a registered holder is entitled to give or take with respect to Debt Securities, CDS would authorize the Participant acting on behalf of the holder to give such notice or to take such action, in accordance with the procedures established by CDS or agreed to from time to time by Industrial Alliance, the Trustee and CDS. Any holder that is not a Participant must rely on the

contractual arrangement it has directly, or indirectly through its financial intermediary, with its Participant to give such notice or take such action.

Industrial Alliance, the underwriters and any Trustee identified in an accompanying Prospectus Supplement, as applicable, will not have any liability or responsibility for (i) records maintained by CDS relating to beneficial ownership interest in the Debt Securities held by CDS or the book-entry accounts maintained by CDS, (ii) maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to any such beneficial ownership interest, or (iii) any advice or representation made by or with respect to CDS and contained herein or in any Trust Indenture with respect to the rules and regulations of CDS or at the direction of the Participants.

# CONSTRAINTS ON VOTING SHARES UNDER QUÉBEC INSURANCE LEGISLATION

The Insurance Act and An Act respecting Industrial Alliance, Life Insurance Company (Québec) contain restrictions on the acquisition, issue, transfer and voting of voting shares of Industrial Alliance. Pursuant to these restrictions, no person is permitted to acquire any voting shares of Industrial Alliance (including Common Shares), if the acquisition would cause the person to hold 10% or more of the voting rights attached to the shares of Industrial Alliance (including Common Shares), if Alliance (including Common Shares), if the transfer or issue would cause the person to hold 10% or more of the voting rights attached to the shares of Industrial Alliance (including Common Shares), if the transfer or issue would cause the person to hold 10% or more of the voting rights attached to the shares of Industrial Alliance. No person who holds 10% or more of the voting rights attaching to the shares of Industrial Alliance may exercise any voting rights attached to the shares held by such person.

# PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Industrial Alliance may sell the Securities (i) through underwriters or dealers, (ii) directly to one or more purchasers pursuant to applicable statutory exemptions, or (iii) through agents. The Securities may be sold at fixed prices or non-fixed prices, such as prices determined by reference to the prevailing price of the specified securities in a specified market, at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices to be negotiated with purchasers, which prices may vary as between purchasers and during the period of distribution of the Securities. The Prospectus Supplement for any of the Securities being offered thereby will set forth the terms of the offering of such Securities, including the type of security being offered, the name or names of any underwriters, the purchase price of such Securities, the proceeds to Industrial Alliance from such sale, any underwriting discounts and other items constituting underwriters' compensation, any public offering price and any discounts or concessions allowed or re-allowed or paid to dealers. Only underwriters so named in the Prospectus Supplement are deemed to be underwriters in connection with the Securities offered thereby.

If underwriters are used in the sale, the Securities will be acquired by the underwriters for their own account and may be resold from time to time in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions, at a fixed public offering price or at varying prices determined at the time of sale. The obligations of the underwriters to purchase such Securities will be subject to certain conditions precedent, and the underwriters will be obligated to purchase all the Securities of the series offered by the Prospectus Supplement if any of such Securities are purchased. Any public offering price and any discounts or concessions allowed or re-allowed or paid to dealers may be changed from time to time.

The Securities may also be sold directly by Industrial Alliance at such prices and upon such terms as agreed to by Industrial Alliance and the purchaser or through agents designated by Industrial Alliance from time to time. Any agent involved in the offering and sale of the Securities in respect of which this Prospectus is delivered will be named, and any commissions payable by Industrial Alliance to such agent will be set forth, in the Prospectus Supplement. Unless otherwise indicated in the Prospectus Supplement, any agent would be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment.

Industrial Alliance may agree to pay the underwriters a commission for various services relating to the issue and sale of any Securities offered hereby. Any such commission will be paid out of the general corporate funds of Industrial Alliance. Underwriters, dealers and agents who participate in the distribution of the Securities may be entitled under agreements to be entered into with Industrial Alliance to indemnification by Industrial Alliance against certain liabilities, including liabilities under securities legislation, or to contribution with respect to payments which such underwriters, dealers or agents may be required to make in respect thereof.

In connection with any offering of the Securities, the underwriters or agents may over-allot or effect transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Securities offered at a higher level than that which might exist in the open market. These transactions may be commenced, interrupted or discontinued at any time.

The securities to be issued hereunder have not been, and will not be, registered under the *United States Securities Act of 1933*, as amended and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States of America and its territories and possessions or to, or for the account or benefit of, United States persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of such Act.

### **RISK FACTORS**

Investment in the Securities is subject to various risks including those risks inherent in conducting the business of a diversified financial institution. Before deciding whether to invest in any Securities, investors should consider carefully the risks set out herein and incorporated by reference in this Prospectus (including subsequently filed documents incorporated by reference) and those described in a Prospectus Supplement relating to a specific offering of Securities. Prospective purchasers should consider the categories of risks identified and discussed in other filings Industrial Alliance makes with securities or insurance regulators including, without limitation, the section entitled "Risk Management" contained in the Annual Report and the section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position" contained in the Annual Information Form incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. These analyses discuss, among other things, certain known material trends and events, and risks or uncertainties that have had a material effect on, and may reasonably be expected to have a material effect on, Industrial Alliance's operations, objectives, strategies, financial situation and performance, including legislative or regulatory developments, competition, technological changes, global capital market activity, interest rates, changes in demographic data and general economic conditions in Canada and elsewhere in the world.

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Unless otherwise specified in a Prospectus Supplement, the net proceeds to Industrial Alliance from the sale of the Securities will be used for the general corporate purposes of Industrial Alliance.

#### LEGAL MATTERS

Unless otherwise specified in a Prospectus Supplement, certain legal matters in connection with any Securities offered by a Prospectus Supplement will be passed upon by McCarthy Tétrault LLP on behalf of Industrial Alliance.

As of February 19, 2004, the partners and associates of McCarthy Tétrault LLP as a group beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of any class of securities of Industrial Alliance or any associated party or affiliate of Industrial Alliance.

# STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus or any amendment. In several of the provinces and territories, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of such purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser.

# CERTIFICATE OF INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES INC.

Dated: February 19, 2004

This short form prospectus, together with the documents incorporated in this prospectus by reference, will, as of the date of the last supplement to this prospectus relating to the securities offered by this prospectus and the supplement(s), constitute full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus and the supplement(s) as required by the securities legislation of all provinces of Canada and will not contain any misrepresentation likely to affect the value or the market price of the securities to be distributed.

(Signed) YVON CHAREST President and Chief Executive Officer (Signed) MICHEL SANSCHAGRIN Vice-President and General Manager Actuarial and Control (as Chief Financial Officer)

On Behalf of the Board of Directors

(Signed) RAYMOND GARNEAU Director

(Signed) GILLES LAROCHE Director

# AUDITORS' CONSENT

We have read the short form base shelf prospectus dated February 19, 2004 relating to the sale and issue of securities of Industrial Alliance Insurance and Financial Services Inc. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for auditors' involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the incorporation by reference in this prospectus of our report to the shareholders of Industrial Alliance Insurance and Financial Services Inc. on the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of net assets of its segregated funds of Industrial Alliance Insurance and Financial Services Inc. as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated statements of income, participating policyholders' account, contributed surplus, shareholders' retained earnings, cash flows and changes in net assets of its segregated funds of the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Our report is dated February 4, 2004.

(Signed) SAMSON BÉLAIR DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP Chartered Accountants Québec, Québec

February 19, 2004